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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
RICHMOND DIVISION

ANDREW KNIGHT, BENJAMIN PRUSKY
and SAWBILIL COMPANIES, INC. and all Civil Action No.
others similarly situated,
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
v,

JELD-WEN, INC. and MASONITE
CORPORATION,

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Defendants JELD-WEN, Inc. and Masonite Corporation locked out competition in the
market for interior molded deors (hereinafier “Doors™) and conspired to fix prices, resulting in
lock-step price increases. As a resull of Defendants’ illegal conduct, Plaintiffs and the other
purchasers they seck to represent have been forced to pay anticompetitive prices for Doors as a
result of fixed prices and the lack of viable substitutes. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of
themselves individually and on behalf of a plaintiff class (the “Class™) consisting of all
individuals and entities who purchased Doors indirectly from a Defendant or co-conspirator in
the United States, for their own use and not for resale, at least as early as Oclober 24, 2012 until
the Present (the “Class Period™). Plaintiffs bring this action for injunctive relief under Section |
of the Sherman Act, and for treble damages under the antitrust faws, unfair competition laws,
consumer protection laws, and unjust enrichment common laws of the several States against

Defendants, and demand a trial by jury.
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NATURE OF ACTION

1, Inferior molded doors are not made from solid wood. Rather, they arc gencrally
hollow, with an interior frame construction that is masked by a molded doorskin. Molded
doorsking are a facing molded from synthetic materials that are much less expensive than wood,
and arc formed into shapes that mimic the look of a pancled wood door (hercinafier
“Doorskins™).

2. Doorskins are referred to as “molded” to distinguish them {rom flush doorskins,
which are simply flal. Two facings may be ghied over a wooden frame to make a hollow core
door that is much less costly than a solid wood door.

3. A Doorskin is formed from a fibrous mat that is molded into a raised panel design
in a press under extreme pressure and at high temperatures. Doorskins are designed to provide
the appearance of solid wood doors at a much lower price.

4, Doorskins are the largest input cost of a molded door, comprising up to 70% of
the cost of manufacturing a molded door.

5. Defendants manufacture both Doors and Doorskins.

6. The markets for both Doors and Doorsking are highly concentrated and
characterized by high barriers (o entry due to time and capital requirements.

7. Other types of doors are not adequate substitutes for molded interior doors due to
acsthetic and cost differences.

8. The markets for Doors and Doorskins are fimited to the contiguous United States
due to the high shipping costs associated with foreign-made Doors and/or Doorskins.

9, On October 24, 2012, Defendant JELD-WEN merged with Craftmaster, one of

only two manufacturers that had competed with Defendants in the Doorskins market. Following
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the merger, Masonite was JELD-WEN’s only remaining competitor in the Doorskins market.
Thus, the merger created a duopoly in the Doorsking market whereby Defendants controlled
100% of the Doorskins market.

10, Defendants aiso manufacture completed Doors, the product at issue, utilizing their
own Doorskins.

11.  Following the 2012 merger, Defendants controlled 75% to 80% of the Doors
market, with the remaining market share divided among smaller door manufacturers that do not
manufacture their own Doorskins or have nationwide distribution networks.

12, Thus, Defendants’ competitors in the Doors market were simultaneously their
customers in the Doorskins market and completely dependent on Defendants for the Doorskins
necessary to manufacture their Doors.

13.  Elements of Defendant JELD-WEN’s anticompetitive conduct have already been
proven as a matter of law. On June 29, 2016, Steves and Sons, Inc., filed an antifrust action
against JELD-WEN. Steves & Sons, Inc. v. JELD-WEN, Inc., 3:16-cv-545 (E.D. Va. Junc 29,
2016).

14. Steves and Sons manufactures Doors. Accordingly, it directly competes with
Defendants in the Doors market.

15. Steves and Sens alleged violations of the Clayton Act, breach of contract, breach
of warranly, and trespass to chattels against JELD-WEN. Steves and Sons alse sought a
declaratory judpgment and specific performance.

16.  On February 5, 2018, the jury returned a verdict in Steves and Sons’ favor,
finding JELD-WEN had violated Section 7 of the Clayton Act, awarding $9,933,602 in damages

arising from overcharges on Doorskins and $46,480,581 for future lost profits.
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17. On October 5, 2018, the district court granted Steves and Sons” motion for
“extraordinary” equitable relicf, i.c., the divestiture of a Doorskins manufacturing plant in
Towanda, Pemnsyivania that was acquired by JELD-WEN through its 2012 merger with
Crafimaster. The court noted that this was the first such instance of divestiture in a private
Section 16 action, See Opinion at 51, 148."

18 Asaresult of Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct described herein, Plaintif and
other putative class members paid more for Doors than they would have paid absent Defendants’
anticompelitive conduct.

THE PARTIES

19.  Plaintiff Andrew Knight, was a resident at all relevant times of Cocoa, Florida.
During the Class Period and while residing in Florida, Plaintiff Knight indircctly purchased one
or more Doors, for his own use and not for resale, that was produced by one or more Defendants,
Plaintiff Knight suffered injury as a result of Defendants® conduct alleged herein.

20.  Plaintiff Benjamin Prusky, was a resident at all times relevant of New York, New
York. During the Class Period and while residing in New York, Plaintiff Prusky indirectly
purchased one or more Doors, for his own use and not for resale, that were produced by one or
more Defendants. Plaintiff Prusky suffered injury as a result of Defendants’ conduct alleged
herein.

21. Plaintiff Sawbill Companies, Inc., was a resident at all times relevant of Oakdale,
Minnesota. During the Class Period and while residing in Minnesota, Plaintiff Sawbill

Companics indirectly purchased one or more Doors, for its own use and not for resale, that were

' The Memorandum Opinion in Steves & Sons, Inc. v. JELD-WEN, Inc., 3:16-cv-545 (E.D. Va,
Oct. 5, 2018) is cited herein as “Opinion at ___.”
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produced by one or more Defendants. Plaintiff Sawbill Companies suffered injury as a result of
Defendants’ conduct afleged herein.

22. Defendant JELD-WEN, Inc. is a Delaware Corporation with a principal place of
business at 2645 Silver Crescent Drive, Charlotte, North Carolina 28273, At the time of the
2012 merger and other anti-competitive conduct alteged herein, JELD-WEN was an Oregon
corporation headquartered in Oregon. JELD-WEN is a wholly owned subsidiary of JELD-WEN
Holding, Inc. JELD-WEN is registered with the Virginia State Corporation Commission as a
foreign corporation and maintains a registered agent in Virginia,

23, Defendant Masonite Corporation is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business at One Tampa City Center, 201 North Franklin Street, Suite 300, Tampa,
Florida 33602. Masonitc 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Masonite International Corporation.
Masonite is registered with the Virginia State Corporation Commission as a foreign corporation
and maintains a registered agent in Virginia,

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

24.  Plaintifts bring this state law class action on behalf of all the Classes to recover
actual and/or compensatory damages, double and treble damages as permitted, pre- and post-
Judgment interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees for the injury caused by Defendants’ conduet in
anticompetitively increasing the price of Doors. Plaintiffs bring this action under Section 16 of
the Claytan Act (15 U.S.C. § 26) to secure injunctive relief against Defendants for violating
Section 1 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. § 1). This court has subject matter jurisdiction under
28 U.S.C, §§ 1331, 1337, and Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.5.C. §§ 15(a) and 20.

25. Plaintiffs also assert claims for actual and exemplary damages and injunctive

relict pursuant o state antitrust, unfair competition, and consumer protection laws, and seek (o
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obtain restitwlion, recover damages, and secure other relief against Defendants for violation of
those state laws, This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1332(d) and 1367, in that; (i) this is a class action in which the matter or controversy
exceeds the sum of §5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, and in which some members of
the proposed Classes are citizens of a state different from some defendants; and (ii) Plaintiffs’
state law claims form parf of the same case or controversy as their federal claims under Article
11 of the United States Constitution,

26. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (¢) and (d) because
one or more Defendants resided or transacted business in this District, is Heensed to do business
or is doing business in this District, and because a substantial portion of the affected interstate
commerce described herein was carried out in this District.

27.  This court has personal jurisdiction over cach defendant because, infer alia, cach
Defendant: (a) transacted business throughout the United States, including in this District; (b)
manufactured, shipped, sold, and/or delivered substantial quantitics of Doors throughout the
United States, including this District; (¢) had substantial contacts with the Umied States,
including this District; and/or engaged (d) in an antitrust conspiracy that was directed at and had
a direct, foresceable, and infended effect of causing injury to the business or property of persons
residing in, focated in, or doing business throughout the United States, including this District.

28.  The activities of the Defendants and all co-conspirators, as described herein, were
within the flow of, were intended to, and did have direct, substantial, and reasonably forcsceable
cffects on the foreign and interstate commerce of the United States.

TRADE AND COMMERCE

29, During the Class Period, each Defendant, directly sold Doors in the United States

6
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in a continuous and uninterrupted flow of interstate commerce and foreign commerce, including
through and into this judicial District.

30. During the Class Period, Defendants collectively controlled a majority of the
markel for Doors in the United States.

31, Defendants™ business  activities substantially affected inferstate irade and
commerce in the United States and caused injury in the United States.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

32, Interior molded residential doors are the most popular type of interior doors in
North America. The vast majority of interior doors sold in North America are molded doors, and
that share has consistently grown over time. Interior molded doors simulate the aesthetics of
solid wood doors, but can be manufactured and sold at lower prices.

Industry History

33, As of September 30, 2000, Defendant JELD-WEN was a door manufacturer that
was vertically integrated, i.e., it manufactured both interior Doorskins and interior molded doors.
Premdor was a second door manufacturer that was somewhat vertically integrated; according to
the DOJ, it was a “small, but significant” competitor in the Doorskin market.

34. Defendant Masonite was manufacturing Doorskins in 2000 to sell to independent
Door manufacturers, but the company had not yet begun selling completed Doors. At that time,
Masonite was wholly owned by International Paper.

35.  Such market conditions made for a competitive market, At the downstream level
of Doors, it was not feasible for the two major players, JELD-WEN and Premdor, to coordinate
their price on Doors. If they coordinated to raise prices, Masonite would have had an incentive o

increasc its production of Doorskins, which would have allowed its customers (Door

[-1578589.1
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manufacturers that competed with JELD-WEN and Premdor) to purchase more Doorskins from
Masonite and undercut any Door price increases instituted by JELD-WEN and Premdor, thereby
thwarting any attempt by the two to collude on Door prices.

36. At the upstream level of Doorskins, Masonite had an incentive to maximize
production of Doorskins, because it did not also sell Doors. The existence of Masonite as a
source of Doorskins incentivized the other two Doorskin manufacturers, JELD-WEN and
Premdor, to sell Doorskins at reasonable prices to independent door manufacturers who
competed with JELD-WEN and Premdor in the Doors market.

37.  On September 30, 2000, Masonite's then-parent company, International Paper,
and Premdor announced their intention for International Paper to sell Masonite to Premdor. At
the time, Masonite owned two Doorskin plants in the United Stales: one plant located in
Towanda, Pennsylvania, and a second plant in Laurel, Mississippi.

38, On August 3, 2001, the United States filed suit to enjoin the merger. United States
v. Premdor, et al., No. 1:01-CV-01696 (D.D.C)).

39. In its complaint, the United States alleged the merger would harm competition n
the markets for both Doorskins and Doors. Among other aspects of competifive harm, the United
States alleped: “Presently, non-vertically integrated door manufacturers can purchase doorskins
from Masonite and thereby increase production of interior molded doors in the event that
Premdor and | JELD-WEN)? seek to raise prices or reduce output. Post-merger, Masonite would
no longer be independent, and Premdor would have the incentive to raise doorskins prices and/or
restrict doorskin sales to non-vertically integrated firms, thereby increasing the benefits to

Premdor and [IELD-WEN] of coordinated interaction.” Premdor Complaint at § 35,

*The Premdor Complaint refers to JELD-WEN as “the nonparty firm.”

8
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40.  The same day it filed suit, the United States also filed a proposed final judgment
that would permit the merger to take place, but only if the Towanda Doorskin plant were
divested from Masonite and spun off 1o a buyer acceptable o the United States. Following the
required public comment period, this judgnment became final and was entered by the court on
April 5, 2002. With the merger thus approved, Premdor acquired Masonite and, going forward,
operated the combined businesses under the name of “Masonite.”

41.  On March 29, 2002, Craftmaster purchased the Towanda Doorskin plant. Through
that acquisition, Craftmaster became a vertically integrated Doorskin and Door company,
producing Doorskins for itself, selling Doorskins to independent Door manufacturers, and selling
Doors in compelition with JELD-WEN, Masonite, and smaller independent Door fabricators.

The 2012 JELD-WEN/Craftmaster Merger

42. On or about June 18, 2012, JELD-WEN publicly announced its intent to merge
with and acquire Craftmaster,

43.  JELD-WEN's acquisition of Craftmaster closed on or about October 24, 2012. By
that acquisition, JELD-WEN gained ownership of the Towanda plant, leaving ifsclf and
Masonite as the only two potential suppliers of Doorskins in the United States.

The 2012 Merger and Its Anticompetitive Effects
A. Relevant Market
Intervior Molded Doors
44, No close substitules exist for inferior molded doors. Solid weod doors or stile and

rail* doors are not close substitutes for molded doors because they are significantly more

*=Stile and rail” refers to a technique whereby a door is assembled from several picces of wood.
The vertical picces are referred to as “stiles™ and the horizontal pieces are “rails.” A basic design
would be a rectangular shape of two stiles and two rails supporting & thinner panel of wood,

9
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expensive. Flush doors are not close substitutes for molded doors, as they Jack molded doors’
aesthetically pleasing designs and are therefore less attractive to certain consumners.

45. A small but significant increase in the price of interior molded doors in the United
States would not cause a significant number of purchasers of interior molded doors to substitute
other doors.

46.  The sale of interior molded doors in the United States is a line of commerce and
relevant product market within the meaning of Section 7 of the Clayton Act.

47, The refevant geographic market (“Relevant Market”) within the meaning of the
Sherman and Clayton Acts for interior molded doors is the contiguous United States. The
number of imported interior molded doors sold in the United States is negligible. The Steves and
Sons court found that the primary component of interior molded doors, Doorskins, cannot be
economically or practically imported, Opinion at 35.

48. A small but significant increase in the price of interior molded doors for sale in
the United States would not cause a significant number of customers to purchase molded doors
produced outside of the contiguous United States.

B. Market Structure

Interior Molded Doors

49. Before the 2012 Merger, Craftmaster competed with three other suppliers of
Doors in all regions of the United States except the West Coast.

50. At the time JELD-WEN acquired Craftmaster, the Doors market was alrcady

highly concentrated. Following the 2012 Merger, it became substantially more concentrated.

resembling the structure of a picture frame. More complex stile and rail doors may include
multiple panels and/or windows.

10
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51, The following graphic represents the merger activity whereby Defendants came to

control 72% of the Doors market and 100% of the Doorskins market :

N.clrlh: Ame,ﬁba Resid.ér.tl.i.al.interior.D.odr“s . - 7 North Amenca Residentlal interior Molded Facings
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Source: J.P. Mergan, Masonile investor presentation.

52. The Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (“HHI™) 1s a commonly-accepted measure of
markel concentration used by the Department of Justice to assess market competitiveness The
HHI for the interior door indusiry is greater than 2,609, which falls under the “highly
concenirated™ industry threshold in the DOJ’s horizontal merger guidelines and is visibly evident

from the graph below,

Inlerior Doors: ~$2.5 Bililon
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C. Anticompetitive Effects
53, The 2012 Merger substantially lessened competition, and has tended to create a
monopoly.
Interior Molded Doors
54. Since the 2012 Merger, Defendants have repeatedly and consistently announced
nearly identical price increases for Doors.
55.  The following chart illustrates Defendants’ parallel price increases for Doors

since the 2012 Moerger:

Company Notice Date Effective Increase
Daie
JELD-WIEN 11/15/2012 02/04/2013 3%-5%
Masonite 12/06/2012 03/18/2013 3%-6%
JELD-WEN 08/06/2013 10/07/203 4%
Masonite 08/13/2013 09/30/2013 5%
Masonite 10/31/2013 (2/03/2014 5%
JELD-WEN 11/18/2013 01/27/2014 5%
JELD-WEN 06/09/2014 08/11/2014 9.5%
~ Masonite 06/17/2014 08/18/2014 8%
Masonite 12/01/2014 03/02/2015 5%
JELD-WEN 12/03/2014 03/02/2015 5%
Masonite 10/26/2015 02/01/2016 3%-5%
JELD-WEN 10/28/2015 02/01/2016 3%-5%

1-1578589.1

12




Case 3:18-cv-00850 Documentl Filed 12/11/18 Page 13 of 36 PagelD# 13

56. Reflected graphically, Defendants’ price increases would be as follows:

Comparison of Masonite's Price Increases with
Jeld-Wen's Price Increase Announcements
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57. By comparison, inflation (as measured by the Consumer Price Index) ranged

between a high of 2.1% in 2012 and a low of 0.1% in 2015 for this same time period.
Graphically, this would be:
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58.  Defendants’ steady, lock-step price increases are not the resull of competitive
market forces, such as cost or demand factors, as shown by the graph below. Rather, these
increases are atiributable to an explicit or tacit result of an agreement to {ix prices.

Masanite Price Chenges Compared with Changes in Demand and Cost {Q4 2010=100})
750 . .

Eli]

——rn e (st et Dhomaiedd

59.  Specifically, the Steves and Sons court found JELD-WEN’s Doorskin
manufacturing costs actually declined as a resull of improvement in the manufacturing process
and that the costs of the improvements were more than offset by savings in manufacturing costs.
See Opinion at 22-23 and 4 105-112 infra. Since Doorskins arc the primary cost/input to Door
manufacturing, the cost of manufacturing Doors also likely declined during the same period that
Defendants were instituting anticompetitive price increases.

60.  Unsurprisingly, Defendant JELD-WEN reported profit margins in excess of 20%
in 2016 and 2017.° A recent JP Morgan Analyst Report found that due to market structure

factors, JELD-WEN has been able to achieve “solid pricing power over the last several years.”

“ http:/finvestors jeld-wen.com/~/media/Files/l/Teld-Wen-IR/documents/annual-reports-and-
proxies/201 7-annual-report.pdf

14
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JP Morgan notes that company-wide, JELD-WEN’s gross margin expansion over the period of
2013-2016 was driven by improved pricing compared to the peried of 2011-2013 and the
company’s success in implementing price increases. In fact, company-wide, prices had increased
al an average rate of 5% per year in North America, significantly oulstripping its price increases
in Europe or Australasia.

61.  Similarly, JP Morgan also found that Masonite had recently exhibited strong
“EBITDA margin expansion...driven by further price increases” and that Masonite also had
solid pricing power. In fact, JP Morgan found that--consistent with the Steve and Sons
complaint—Masonite had announced five price increases since Q2 2013 and had realized ten
conseculive quarters of price increases, with those increases ranging from 3-7%. The publication
Barrons noted in December 2014 that “[in} the September quarter, pricing rose 4.2%, compared
with the year-carlier level, and that followed two earlier increases this year. The price for a
standard bifold door has jumped 27%, to $52, since October 2013.”

D. Market Concentration

62.  In its 2001 suit seeking to block the industry consolidation that would have
resulted without the divestiture of the Towanda plant, the DOJ alleged that the proposed merger
might in the future “lend substantially to lessen competition by making it casier for the
remaining firms in the relevant markets to engage in coordinated interaction that harms
consumers.”

63.  The 2012 Merger has resuited in exactly such coordinated interaction by
Defendants, because industry concentration has made such conduct by Defendants feasible and

profitable.

15
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64.  Notably, in addition to a jury verdict, the Steves and Sons court held a three-day
cvidentiary hearing and issued factual findings that the merger had “substantially lessened”
competition in the Doorskins market and ordered the divestiture of the Towanda plant. Order at
6, 148.

Interior Molded Doorskins

65. On June 25, 2014, Masonite stated, during a public presentation to industry
analysts:

Only Masonite and JELD-WEN service the entire North American market. And

other door assembly companies are smaller and much more regionally focused.

And importantly, the other smaller . . . door assembly manufacturers have to get

their facings [ie, doorskins] from somebody else. They're not vertically

integrated in their facings. And we, at Masonite, have determined that we wiil not

sel our facings into ~to competition, So, that only leaves one other outlet for them

to get their facings from in North America.

66.  Before this public announcement, JELD-WIEN knew, or expected, that this was or
would be Masonite’s position, and, armed with such knowledge, (a) reduced the quality of its
output of Doorskins; (b) raised the price of its Doorskins; and (¢) breached its long-term supply
agreement with at least one independent Door manufacturer.

67, As the United States’ Competitive Impact Statement in Premdor warned, “post-
acquisition, the two vertically integrated firms could weaken their downstream rivals by raising
their molded doorskin prices.” This is precisely what Defendants JELD-WEN and Masonite
have done.

Interior Molded Doors
68. As noted above, on three occasions since the 2012 Merger, Masonite has quickly

followed price increase announcements by JELD-WEN on Doors. On three other occasions,

Masonite took the iead and was promptly followed by JELD-WEN. Defendants’ six parallel

16
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price increases of Doors has resulted in a substantial cumulative price increase for Doors over
the Class Period.

69. As discussed infia, Masonite and JELD-WEN both used to supply Doorskins to
independent, third-parly Door manufacturers, such as Steves and Sons. However, on June 24,
2014, Masonite announced it would no longer supply Doorskins to these competitors in the
Doors market.

70.  As a result, independent Door manufacturers have no choice but to purchase their
Doorskins from JELD-WEN.

71 Additional coordinated interaction between Masonite and JELD-WEN is likely to
occur in the future,

E. Barriers to Entry

72.  The barricrs to entry in the Doorskin manufacturing business are high.

73.  Analysts covering the Doorskin and Door markets have noted that Masonite and
TELD-WEN’s market leading positions are safe given the “substantial barricrs to entry.” In the
Doorskin market, there are three overarching types of barriers: 1) cost prohibitive upstart costs to
open manufacturing facilities thal can provide an ample variety of molded door styles; 2)
significant IP and trademarks, which can result in costly litigation; and 3} a national distribution
network.

74.  In the Steves and Sons action, the plaintiff alleged the construction of a new
Doorskin manufacturing facility, with necessary molds and other capital equipment, could
involve capital investments substantially in excess of $100 million, take over {our years, and be

subject to substantial uncertainties.

17
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75.  According {o Steves and Sons, a new entrant could not successfully enter with a
single style of Doorskins; rather, an entrant would have to offer the full range of styles currently
demanded by consumers, each of which requires substantial capital investment in a mold. This is
because home improvement centers and other Doors customers demand a range of products to be
available, in tum, to offer their own customers a range of choices. Moreover, supply contracts for
Doorskins are sole-source contracts, meaning Door manufacturers cannot buy certain Doorskin
models from one manufacturer and other models from a second manufacturer. Thus, no Door
manufacturer will enter into a supply agreement with a new manufacturer uniess that company
can supply the full range of Doorskin models the Door manufacturer requires. Any hypothetical
entrant would need to capture essentially all the business of the non-vertically integrated Door
manufacturers 1o achieve efficient, competitive scale and (o make a rcasonable return on 1ts
investment in entry. In fact, no new entrant has entered the market since the 2012 Merger, and
future entry is unlikely to be timely or sufficient to deter further coordination belween
Defendants.

76.  Even if a new entrant had adequate resources to commit fo the development of a
new Doorskin business, such an entrant might then be subject {o protracted and expensive patent
litigation brought by Defendants.

77.  In a filing with the United Stafes Securities and Exchange Commission, JELD-
WIIN represented that:

We rely primarily on patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws

and contractual commitments {o protect our intellectual property and other
proprietary ri ,g,hts.S

* See https:/fwww.sce.pov/Archives/edgar/dala/1674335/0001 1931251734585/
d459059d424b4 htm.
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78. Similarly, in a 2016 filing with the United States Securitics and Exchange
Commission, Masonite represented that:

We protect the intellectual property that we develop through, among other things,

filing for patents in the United States and various foreign countries. In the United

States, we curently have 213 design patents and design patent applications and

172 utility patents and patent applications. We currently have 197 foreign design

patents and patent applications and 283 foreign utility patents and patent

applications.(‘

79.  According to the American Intellectual Property Law Association’s ("AIPLA™)
2015 Report of the Economic Survey, the median cost of litigating a patent infringement suit
through trial in which more than $25 million is at risk is $5 million.

80. There is no reason to believe that cither Defendant would be willing to voluntarily
license their intellectual properly to a new entrant at price that would otherwise be available in a

fair and competitive market.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

81. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves, and as a class action under the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(a), (b)(2) and (b)(3), secking injunctive reliel pursuant
to federal law, and damages pursvant to various state antitrust, unfair competition, unjust
enrichment, and consumer protection laws of the states listed below on behalf of the members of
the following classes:

Al Nationwide Injunctive Relief Class: All individuals and entities who indirectly

purchased Doors from Defendants or co-conspirators in the United States during the Class Period

for their own use and not for resale.

¢ See https://www.see.gov/Archives/edgar/data/893691/000089369116000072/a201 S{orm10-
k.htm.
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B. Florida Class: All individuals and entities who indirectly purchased Doors from
Defendants or co-conspirators in the Florida during the Class Period for their own use and not for
resale.

C. Minnesota Class: All individuals and entities who indirectly purchased Doors

from Defendants or co-conspirators in Minnesota during the Class Period for their own use and
not for resale.

D. New York Class: All individuals and entities who indirectly purchased Doors

from Defendants or co-conspirators in New York during the Class Period for their own use and
not for resale.

82.  The State Classes are collectively referred to as the “Classes™ unless otherwise
indicated. Specifically excluded from the Classes are the following:

A. Purchases of Doors directly from Defendants;

. Purchases of Doors for resale;

C. Defendants;

D. The officers, directors or employees of any Defendant,
E. Any entity in which any Defendant has a controlling interest; and any affiliate,

legal representative, heir or assign of any Defendant,
F, Any federal, state governmental entities, any judicial officer presiding over this

action and the members of his/her immediate family and judicial staff;

G. Any juror assigned to this action; and
H. Any co-conspirafor identified 1 this action.
83, Numerosity: Plaintiffs do not know the exact size of the class; however, based

upon the nature of the trade and commerce involved, Plaintiffs believe that the class numbers in
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the thousands, Therefore, joinder of all class members would be impracticable, and class
treatment is the superior method for fairly and efficiently adjudicating this controversy.

84.  Class Identity: The above-defined Classes are readily identifiable and are ones for
which records should exist,

85.  Typicality: Plaintiffs’ claims arc typical of other class members’ claims because
they were injured through Defendants’ uniform misconduct and paid a supra-competitive price
for Doors. Accordingly, by proving their own claims, Plaintiffs will necessarily prove the other
class members’ claims.

86,  Common Questions Predominate: Conmmon Iegal and factual questions
predominate within the class, including but not limited to the following:

A. Whether the 2012 merger had the effect of substantially lessening competition or

tended to create a monopoly;

B. Whether Defendants explicitly or implicitly agreed to fix prices;

C. Whether the 2012 merger resulted in higher prices for Doors than would prevail

in a competitive market;

D. Whether Defendants’ price-fixing resulted in higher prices for Doors than would

prevail in a competitive market;

< The existence of high barriers to entry;

F. Whether Defendants have market power;

G. Whether Plaintiffs and class members were injured, and

H. The amount of damages to which Plaintiffs and other class members are entitled.
87. Adeguacy: Plaintiffs can and will fairly and adequately represent and protect the

class members’ interests, and have no interests that conflict with or are antagonistic to those of
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the class. Morcover, Plaintiffs’ altormeys are experienced and competent in complex, class-

action, and antitrust litigation

88.

Superiority: Class certification is the superior procedural vehicle for the fair and

efficient adjudication of the claims asserted because:

A.

B.

89.

Conmimon questions of law and fact overwhelmingly predominate over any
individual questions that exist within the class and, consequently, economies to
the Court and parties exist in litigating the common issues on a class-wide basis
instead of on a repetitive individual basis;

Each class member’'s damage claim is too small to make individual litigation an
economically viable altemative, and few class members have any interest in
individuaily controlling the prosecution of separate actions;

Class treatment is required for optimal deterrence and compensation and for
Jimiting the Court-awarded, rcasonable legal expenses incurred by class members;
and

No unusual difficulties are likely to be encountered in this class action’s
management in that all legal and factual questions are common 1o the class.

The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Classes would

create the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications, establishing incompatible standards of

conduct for Defendants.

90.

Pursuant to Rule 23, Plaintiffs bring these claims on behalf of all persons and

entitics that, as residents of various states, indirectly purchased one or more Doors from a

Defendant during the Class Period for their own use and not for resale,

1-{3THSR94
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01.  Defendants have acted on grounds gencrally applicable to the Classes, thereby

making final infunctive relief appropriate with respect to the Classes as a whale.

ANTITRUST INJURY
92.  Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct had the folowing effects, among others:
A. Price competition has been restrained or eliminated with respect to Doors;
B. The prices of Doors have been fixed, raised, stabilized, or maintained at

artificially inflated levels:

C. Indirect purchasers of Doors have been deprived of free and open competition;
and

D. Indirect purchasers of Doors, including Plaintiffs, paid artificially inflated prices.

93. It is well recognized that in a multi-level chain of distribution, such as exists here,

an overcharge will be felt throughowt the chain of distribution.  As Professor Herbert
Hovenkamp, a noted antitrust scholar has stated in his treatise, FEDERAL ANTITRUST
POLICY, THE LAW OF COMPETITION AND ITS PRACTICE (1994) at 564:

A monopoly overcharge at the top of a distribution chain generally results in
higher prices at every level below. For example, if production of aluminum is
monopolized or cartelized, fabricators of aluminum cookware will pay higher
prices for aluminum. In most cascs they will absorb part of these increased costs
themselves and pass part along to cookwarc wholesalers. The wholesalers will
charge higher prices to the retail stores, and the stores will do it once again to
retail consumers. Every person at every stage in the chain likely will be poorer as
a result of the monopoly price at the top.

Theoretically, one can calculate the percentage of any overcharge that a firm a
one distributional level will pass on to those at the next level.

94, Similarly, Professor Jeffrey K. MacKie-Mason, a professor in the Department of
Economics at the University of California, Berkeley and the former Arthur W. Burks Professor

of Information and Compuler Science and Professor of Economics and Public Policy at the
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Universily of Michigan, has stated, if is “well known in economic theory and practice, (that) at
teast some of the overcharge will be passed on by distributors and end consumers.”

95. Consequently, while the direct purchasers were the first to pay supra-competitive
prices, some or all of the overcharge was passed along the distribution chain and absorbed by
Plaintiffs and Class Members when they purchased Doors from stores or distributors.

96.  Commonly used and well-accepted economic models can be used to measure both
the extent and the amount of the supra-competitive charges passed through the chain of
distribution. Thus, the economic harm {o Plaintiffs and the class members can be quantified.

97.  The purpose of the conspiratorial conduct of Defendants was to raise, fix or
maintain the prices of Doors and, as a direct and foresceable result, Plaintiffs and the Classes
paid supra-competitive prices for Doors during the Class Period.

98. By reason of the alleged violations of the antitrust laws, Plainti{fs and the Classes
have sustained injury to their business or property, having paid higher prices for Doors than they
would have paid in the absence of Defendants® itlegal contract, combination, or conspiracy, and
as a result have suffered damages.

99.  This is an antitrust injury of the type that the antitrust laws were meant to punish
and prevent.

THE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS DO NOT BAR PLAINTIEFS® CLAIMS

100.  Plaintiffs and members of the Classes had neither actual nor constructive
knowledge of the facts constituting their claims for relief. Plaintiffs and members of the Classes
did not discover, and could not have discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence, the

existence of the conspiracy alleged herein until shortly before filing this Complaint. Defendants
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engaged in a seeret conspiracy that did not reveal facts that would put Plainti{fs or the Classes on
inquiry notice that there was a conspiracy to {ix prices of Doors.

101, In addition, by virtue of the fraudulent conccalment of their wrongful conduct by
Defendants, the running of any statute of limitations has been tolled and suspended with respect
to any claims and rights of action that Plaintiffs and the other Class members have as a result of
the unlawful combination and conspiracy alleged in this Complaint.

COUNTI
Price Fixing in Violation of Section I of the Sherman Act, 15 US.C. § 1
{On Behalf of Nationwide Class for Injunctive and Equitable Relief)

102, Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege, as though fully set forth herein, each and every
atlegation set forth in the preceding paragraphs.

103.  Defendants are dircet competitors in the Doors market throughout the Unifed
States,

104, Defendants have explicitly or implicitly colluded to raise prices in the Doors
Market, executing lock-step price increases despite the presence of excess production capacity.

105.  Such price increases in the presence of excess supply are evidence of price {ixing.
In an industry with large fixed costs, such as this one, had the market been competitive,
Defendants would have attempted o raise sales in order to be close to capacity because high
sales would have allowed them to spread their fixed costs over a larger quantity, and thus reduce
per unit cost.

106. Instead of lowering prices to reduce excess production capacity, Defendants
increased their prices in nearly identical, lock-step fashion.

107.  Doors are a commodity-like product, which makes the market more susceptible to

price fixing, as products are nearly uniform with the primary competition being based upon
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price. This commodity-like nature of their product allows Defendants to more casily monitor and
detect defections from their price-fixing agreement.

108.  There are many buyers in the market, which reduces the probability that either
Defendant would cheal on their price-fixing agreement since cach polential sale 1s small while
the risk of disrupting their collusive pricing would carry a large penalty.

109. Defendants’ large profit margins are consistent with a price-fixed/cartelized
markel.

110. The Department of Justice has alrcady investigated this market in 2001, when
Premdor acquired Masonite. In that instance, DOJ concluded that permitting the merger without
any divestitures would have resulted in a duopoly in the Doorskin market and i the Doors
market and therefore harmed competition. The DOJI’s proposed solution -~ that the Towanda,
PA Doorskins manufacturing facility be divested -- was accepted by Premdor and the Towanda
plant was sold off to become Craftmaster. The 2012 purchase of Crafimaster by JELD-WEN
resulted in the same formation of upstream and downstream duopolics that was a concem to the
DO in 2001.

111, In fact, it was JELD-WEN’s acquisition of Craftmaster and subsequent perceived
exertion of market power that led Steve and Sons to sue JELD-WEN in 2016, claiming that as a
result of the merger, JELD-WEN and Masonite a) coordinated on price increase announcements;
and 2) raised the prices it charged Steve and Sons for Doorskins while simultancously worsening
the product quality. A jury accordingly awarded Steves and Sons nearly $12 million in
overcharges, as well as, approximately $46 million in lost profits.

112, Beginning at a time currently unknown to Plaintiffs, but as least as early as

October 24, 2012, and continuing through the present, the exact dates being unknown to
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Plaintifs, Defendants and their co-conspirators entered infto a continuing agreement,
understanding, and conspiracy in restraint of trade artificially to fix, raise, and stabilize prices for
Doors in the United States, in violation of the Sherman Act {15 U.S.C. § 1).

113, In formulating and carrying out the alleged agreement, understanding, and
conspiracy, Defendants and their co-conspirators did those things that they combined and
conspired to do, including but not limited to the acts, practices, and course of conduct set forth
above, and the following among others: fixing, raising, stabilizing and pegging the price of
Doors.

114. The combination and conspiracy alleged herein has had the following effects,
among others:

Al Price competition in the sale of Doors has been restrained, suppressed, and/or

eliminated in the United States;

B. Prices for Doors sold by Defendants and all of their co-conspirators have been
fixed, raised, maintained and stabilized at artificially high, non-competitive levels
throughout the United States; and

C. Those who purchased Doors indirectly from Defendants and their co-conspirators
have been deprived of the benefits of free and open competition.

115.  Plaintiffs and members of the Classes have been injured and will continue to be
injured by paying more for Doors purchased indirectly from Defendants than they would have
paid and will pay in the absence of the combination and conspiracy as alleged herein.

116. Plaintiffs and members of the Classes are entitled to an injunction against

Defendants, preventing and restraining the violations alleged herein.
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VIOLATIONS OF STATE ANTITRUST LAWS

117.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

118.  The following are pleaded under the antitrust laws of cach Sfate or jurisdiction
identificd below, on behalf of the indicated Class.

COUNT 1
Violation of Section 340 of the New York General Business Law
{On Behalf of the New York Class)

119.  Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege, as though fully set forth herein, cach and every
allegation set forth in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

120.  Asticle 22 of the New York General Business Law generally prohibits monopolics
and contractls or agreements in restraint of trade, with the policy of encouraging competition or
the free exercise of any activity in the conduct of any business, trade or commerce in New York.
N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 340 (1).

121, Plaintiffs purchased Doors within the State of New York during the Class Period.
But for Defendants’ conduct set forth herein, the price of Doors would have been lower, in an
amount to be determined at trial.

122.  Under New York law, indirect purchasers have standing to maintain an action
based on the facts alleged in this Complaint. N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 340 (0).

123.  Defendants established or maintained a monopoly within the intrastate commerce
of New York for the trade or commerce of Doors and restrained competition in the free exercise

of the conduct of the business of Doors within the intrastate commerce of New York, in violation

of N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 340, ef seq.
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124.  Plaintiffs and members of the Class were injured with respect to purchases of
Doors in New York and arc entitled to all forms of relief, including actual damages, treble
damages, costs not exceeding $10,000.00, and reasonable attorneys® fees.

COUNT I
Violation of the Minnesota Antitrust Law, Minn. Stat. § 325D.49, ef seq.
(On Behalf of the Minnesota Class)

125.  Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege, as though fully sct forth herein, each and every
allegation set forth in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

126. The Minncsota Antitrust Law of 1971 aims to prohibit any contract, combination
or conspiracy when any part thereof was created, formed, or entered into in Minnesota; any
contract, combination or conspiracy, wherever created, formed or entered info, any
establishment, maintenance or use of moenopoly power; and any attempt to establish, maintain or
use monopoly power, whenever any of these affect Minnesota trade or commerce.

127.  Plaintiffs purchased Doors within the State of Minnesota during the Class Pertod.
But for Defendants® conduct set forth herein, the price of Doors would have been lower, in an
amount {0 be determined at trial.

128, Under the Minnesota Antitrust Act of 1971, indirect purchasers have standing to
maintain an action based on the facts alleged in this Complaint, Minn. Stat. § 325D.56.
Defendants contracted, combined oy conspired in unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce in
the market for Doors within the intrastate commerce of and outside of Minnesota; established,
maintained, used or attempted to establish, maintain or use monopoly power over the trade or
commerce in the markel for Doors within the intrastate commerce of and outside of Minnesota;
and fixed prices and allocated markets for Doors within the intrastate commerce of and outside

of Minnesota, in violation of Minn, Stat. § 325D.49, er seq.
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129, Plaintiffs and members of the Minnesota Class were injured with respect to
purchases of Doors in Minnesota and are entitled to all forms of relief, including actual damages,
treble damages, costs and disbursements, rcasonable attorneys® fees, and injunctive relief
necessary (o prevent and restrain violations hercof,

VIOLATIONS OF STATE UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES AND
CONSUMER PROTECTION LAWS

130 Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

131.  The following Claims for Relief are pleaded under the consumer protection or
similar laws of each State or jurisdiction identified below, on behalf of the indicated class.

132.  Each of the unfair and deceptive trade practices and consumer protection claims
pled in the following claims are pled properly on behalf of the Plaintiffs and Classes in this
Complaint.

COUNT 1V
Violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act,
Fla, Stat. § 501.201(2) et seq.
{On behalf of Florida Class)

133.  Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege, as though fully set forth herein, each and every
allegation set forth in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

134.  The Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Florida Stat. 501.201, er
seq., (the “FDUTPA™), generally prohibits “unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts
or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commeree,”
including practices in restraint of trade. Florida Stat. § 501.204(1).

135.  The primary policy of the FDUTPA is “(f)o protect the consuming public and

fegitimate business enterprises from those who engage in unfair methods of competition, or
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unconscionable, deceptive, or unfair acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.”
Florida Stat. § 501.202(2). The members of the Florida class are covered by this Stafute.

136. A claim for damages under the FDUTPA has three elements: (1) a prohibited
practice; (2) causation; and (3) actual damages.

137.  Under Florida law, indirect purchasers have standing to maintain an action under
the FDUTPA based on the facts alleged in this Complaint. Fla. Stat. § 501.211(a) (*...anyone
agprieved by a violation of this (statute) may bring an action...”).

138,  Plaintiffs purchased Doors within the State of Florida during the Class Penod. But
for Defendants’ conduct set forth herein, the price of Doors would have been lower, in an
amount to be determined at trial.

139.  Defendants entered into a contract, combination, or conspiracy between two or
more persons in restraint of, or to monopolize, trade or commerce in the Doors market, a
substantial part of which occurred within Florida.

140. Defendants established, maintained or used a monopoly, or attempted to establish
a monopoly, of trade or commerce in the market for Doors, for the purpose of excluding
competition or controlling, fixing or maintaining prices in Florida at a level higher than the
competitive market level, beginning at least as carty as October 24, 2012, and continuing through
the date of this iling.

141.  Accordingly, Defendants’ conduct was an unfair method of competition, and an
unfair or deceptive act or practice within the conduct of commerce within the State of Florida.

142.  Defendants’ conduct substantially affected Florida’s trade and commerce.

31

1157758584 18



Case 3:18-cv-00850 Document 1 Filed 12/11/18 Page 32 of 36 PagelD# 32

143.  As a direct and proximaie cause of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and
the members of the Florida Class have been injured by virtue of overcharges for Doors and are
threatened with further injury.

144. By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and the members of the Florida Class are
entitled to seek all forms of relief, including injunctive relief pursuant to Florida Stat. § 501.208
and declaratory judgment, actual damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to
Florida Stat, § 501.211.

COUNT V

Violation of the Minnesota Consumer Fraud Act, Minn, Stat. § 325F.68, er seq.
(On Behal of the Minnesota Class)

145.  Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege, as though fully set forth herein, each and every
allegation set forth in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

146. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, Defendants have violated Minn. Stat. §
325F.08, ef seq.

147.  Defendants cngaged in a deceptive trade practice with the intent fo injure
competifors and consumers through supra-competitive profits.

148. Defendants cstablished, maintained, or used a monopoly, or attempted (o establish
a monopoly, of trade or commerce in the Doors market, a substantial part of which occurred
within Minnesota, for the purpose of controlling, fixing, or maintaining prices in the Doors
market.

149.  Defendants’” conduct was unfair, unconscicnable, or deceptive within the conduct
of commerce within the State of Minnesota. Defendants’ conduct, specifically in the form of
fraudulen{ concealment of their horizontal agreement, created a fraudulent or deceptive act or

practice committed by a supplier in connection with a conswmer transaction.
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150.  Defendants” unlawful conduct substantially affected Minnesota’s trade and
CommMerce.

151, Defendants” conduct was willful.

152.  Asadirect and proximate cause of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and
the members of the Minnesota Class have been injured in their business or property and are
threatened with further injury.

153. By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and the members of the Minnesota Class are
entitled to seek all forms of relief, including damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs under
Minn. Stat. § 325F.68, ct seq. and applicable case law.

COUNT VI
UNJUST ENRICHMENT

154, Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs.

155.  As a result of their unfawful conduct described above, Defendants have and will
continuc to be unjustly enriched by the reccipt of unlawfully inflated prices and unlawful profits
of Doors.

156.  Under common law principles of unjust enrichment, defendants should not be
permitted to retain the benefits conferred on them by overpayments by Plaintiffs and members of
the Classes in the following States: Florida, Minnesota and New Yok,

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the Classes of all others so
similarly sitnated, respectfully request judgment against defendants as follows:

1. The Court determines that this action may be maintained as a class action under
Rule 23(a), (b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, appoint Plaintiffs as Class

Representatives and its counsel of record as Class Counsel, and direct that notice of this action,

33

115785841



Case 3:18-cv-00850 Document 1 Filed 12/11/18 Page 34 of 36 PagelD# 34

as provided by Rule 23(c)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, be given to the Class, once
certified;

2. The unlawful conduct, conspiracy or combination alleged herein be adjudged and
decreed in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and listed state antitrust laws, unfair
competition laws, state consumer protection faws, and common law;

3. Plaintiffs and the Class recover damages, to the maximum extent allowed under
the applicable state laws, and that a joint and several judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and the
members of the Classes be entered against Defendants in an amount to be trebled to the extent
such laws permit;

4. Defendants, their affiliates, successors, transferees, assignees and other officers,
directors, partners, agents and employees thereof, and all other persons acting or claiming to act
on their behalf or in concert with them, be permanently enjoined and restrained from in any
manner continuing, maintaining or renewing the conduct, conspiracy, or combination alieged
herein, or from entering into any other conspiracy or combination having a similar purpose or
effect, and from adopting or following any practice, plan, program, or device having a similar
purpose or effect;

5. Defendants, their affiliates, successors, transferces, assignees and other officers,
directors, partners, agents and employees thercoT, and all other persons acling or claiming to act
on their behalf or in concert with them, be permanently enjoined and restrained from in any
manner continuing, maintaining, or renewing the sharing of highly sensitive competitive

information that permits identification of company's information;
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6. Plaintiffs and the members of the Classes be awarded pre-and post- judgment
interest as provided by law, and that such interest be awarded at the highest legal rate from and
after the date of service of the Complaint;

7. Plainti{fs and the members of the Classes recover thelr costs of sust, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, as provided by law; and

8. Plaintiffs and the members of the Classes have such other and further rehief as the

case may require and the Court deem just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury, pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, on all issues so triable.
Dated: December 11, 2018 Respectfully submitted,

/s/

Conrad M., Shumadine

VSR #4325
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The 1S 44 civil cover sheet and the infermation contained hercin neither replaces nor supplements the filings ang service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by focal rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference af the United S1ates in Seplembes 1974, is
required for the use af (he Clerk of Court for the purpoese of initiating the civit docket sheet. Conscquently, & civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for cach civit complaint filed. The attorney fiting a case should complete the form as follows:

E(a)

(b}

03]

v,

Y1

VI,

vin,

Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names {last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. 1f the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use
only the full name or standard abbreviations. H (be plaint{T or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the apency and
then e official, giving both name and title.

County of Residence, For cach civil case fijed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, eater the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which thic first listed defendant resides at the time of filing, (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant” is the tocation of {he tract of land invoived.}

Attorneys, Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. if there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see atfachment)”.

7

Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is sel forth under Rule §(a), F.R.Cv.P, which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "
in ane of the boxes. 11 there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below,

United States plaintiff. {1} Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348, Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaineiY is suing the United States, is officers or agencics, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3} This refers (o suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United Stales, an amendment
1o the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States, In cases whese the U.S. is a party, the U5, plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be masked.

Diversity of citizenship, (4) This refers to suits under 28 11.5.C. 1332, where partics are cilizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section 111 belows NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
L)

Residence (citizenship} of Principal Parties. This section of the IS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was fndicated above. Mark this
seetion for each principal party.

Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are muliiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
tl:at is most applicable. Click here for: Natue of Suit Code Descriptions.

Ovrigin, Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proccedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
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When the petition for removal s granted, cheek this box.
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Transferzed from Another District. (5} For cases transferred under Title 28 U.8.C. Sectior 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
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Sechion 1407.
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changes in siafue.
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3:18-cv-00850 Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al

U.S. District Court
Eastern District of Virginia -
Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered by Shumadine, Conrad on 12/11/2018 at 4:16 PM EST and filed
on 12/11/2018

Case Name: Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al
Case Number: 3:18-¢cv-00850
Filer: Andrew Knight

Sawbill Companies, Inc.
Benjamin Prusky
Document Number: 1

Docket Text:

Compilaint ( Filing fee $ 400, receipt number 0422-6401603.), filed by Andrew Knight,
Sawbill Companies, Inc., Benjamin Prusky. (Attachments: # (1) Civil Cover Sheet)
(Shumadine, Conrad)

3:18-cv-00850 Notice has been electronically mailed to:
Conrad Moss Shumadine  cshumadine@wilsav.com, pyoder@wilsav.com, smecloud@wilsav.com

3:18-cv-00850 Notice has been delivered by other means to:
The following document(s) are associated with this transaction:

Document description:Main Document

Original filename:n/a

Electronic document Stamp:

[STAMP dcecfStamp 1D=1091796605 |Date=12/11/2018] |FileNumber=8330807-
0} [03b11e428a3c9b003a311b9632092a2a3810d7527ada6496¢359¢6125fbedcale?
4200127a0dabeb9¢21e700161ba3966c3 {61Tab50bi25d035%9a5344538c65d]]
Document description: Civil Cover Sheet

Original filename:n/a

Electronic document Stamp: :
[STAMP dcecfStamp 1D=1091796605 [Date=12/11/2018] [FileNumber=8330807-
1] {22cdf40736al cc0ab048a789¢727a9fbc93ee2649¢f302abe0c28fcedat2e8e207
10d16¢0ae0771c9d6bel25¢c2adebabaa704d6ale3e507ed4e242basit59891 ]

htips://ecl.vaed.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/Dispatch.pl?101 189305656243 12/11/2018
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AL 340 {Rev, 0612 Stmmons ina Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Eastern District of Virginia

ANDREW KNIGHT, BENJAMIN PRUSKYand
SAWBILL COMPANIES, INC. and all others similarly
situated,

V. Civil Action No.  3:18¢v850

JELD-WEN, INC. and MASONITE CORPORATION,

e e N’ e N et e e et e et St

. Defendanit)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendunt s name and address) JELD-WEN, Inc.
¢lo Agent for Service of Process, CT CORPORATION SYSTEM
4701 Cox Road, Suite 285
Glen Allen, VA 23060

Principal Office; 2645 Silver Crescent Drive
Charlotte, North Carclina 28273

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summens on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days il you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States deseribed in Fed. R. Civ.,
P. 12 (a}2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule {2 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plainti{f’s attorney,
whose name and address are: Conrad M, Shumadine

Wilicox & Savage, P.C,,

Wells Fargo Center, 440 Monticello Ave., Suite 2200
Norfolk, VA 23510-2243

757-628-5525 (telephone}
cshumadine@wilsav.com

H you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court,

CLERR OF COURT

Date:

" Signature of Clerk or Depay Clerk
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AQ A0 Rev 064 2) Summons i Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action Mo,

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section sthould not be filed with the court nnless requived by Fed. R, Civ, Po 4 (1)

This summons for grame of individual and title, if ary)

was received by me on (daie;

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual a (olece)

on fdaie) or

1 1 lefi the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with rane)
. a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

O fdate) . and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

{3 1 served the summons on fame of individual) Jwho s

designated by [aw to accepl service of pracess on behalf of fname of erganizaiion)

on {daic} s or
3 1 returned the summons upexecuted because por
{1 Other gpecify):
My fees are § for travel and & for services, for a total of & 0.00

1 declare under penalty of perjury that this information s true.

Date:

Server's signalure

Printed namie and fitle

Server's addrexs

Additional information regarding attempted service, ¢lc:
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Other Documents
3:18-cv-00850 Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al

U.S. District Court
Eastern District of Virginia -
Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered by Shumadine, Conrad on 12/11/2018 at 4:41 PM EST and filed
on 12/11/2018

Case Name: Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al
Case Number: 3:18-ev-00850
Filer: Andrew Knight

Benjamin Prusky
Sawbill Companies, Inc.
Document Number: 2

Docket Text:
Proposed Summaons re [1] Complaint issued to JELD-WEN, Inc. by Andrew Knight,
Benjamin Prusky, Sawbill Companies, Inc.. (Shumadine, Conrad)

3:18-cv-00850 Notice has been electronically mailed to:
Conrad Moss Shumadine  cshumadine@wilsav.com, pyoder@wilsav.com, smccloud@wilsav.com

3:18-cv-00850 Notice has been delivered by other means to:
The following document(s) are associated with this transaction:

Document description:Main Document

Original filename:n/a

Electronic document Stamp:

[STAMP dcecfStamp_ID=1091796605 [Date=12/11/2018] [FileNumber=8331029-
0] {017635a76e162e91bdc7bal7dec00417daac53063db641ad67aeaa57324b1b727h
5507159e239110f2d46e78da7ae1db3a5¢c598800268 1 cada28bd7a3d4edl79]]

https://ect.vaed.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/Dispatch.pl?100360668803253 12/11/2018
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AQ B0 (Rev. 06/12) Semmons wa Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
lor the

Eastern District of Virginia

ANDREW KNIGHT, BENJAMIN PRUSKYand
SAWBILL COMPANIES, INC. and all others similarly

situated,
Plaintiffis) T
v Civil Action No, 3:18cv850

JELD-WEN, INC. and MASONITE CORPORATION,

e
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

Fo: (Defendant’s name and oddress} Masonite Corporation
cfo Agent for Service of Process: Corparate Creations Network Inc.
6802 Paragon Place, #410
Richmond, VA 23230

Principat Office: 201 N. Franklin Sireet, Suite 300,
Tampa, FL 33602

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after serviee of this summons on you (not counting the day you received ity — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States deseribed in Fed. R, Civ,
P. 12 (a}(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintifT’s attomey,
whose name and address are:  Conrad M. Shumadine

Willcox & Savage, P.C.,

Wells Fargo Center, 440 Monticello Ave,, Suite 2200
Norolk, VA 23510-2243

757-628-5525 (telephone)

cshumadine@wilsav.com

I you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must {ile your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

T Signanere of Clork or Deputy Clerk
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AU A40 (Mev, 06782) Summons i Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No,

PROOY OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless vequived by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons {01 (name of individieal wid fitle, if any)

was received by me on (date)

1 1 personatly served the summons on the individual af gatace)

on {date) sor

£3 1 lefi the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with (rame)
. a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (daie) . and mailed a copy 1o the individual’s Jast known address; or

{3 1served the summons on fame of individial) . whois

designated by kaw (o accepl service of process on behall of (rame of erganization)

on (dute) sor
1 1 returned the summons unexecuted because Lor
3 Other (specifig:
My feesare § forravel and $ for services, for a total of § 0.00 .

1 declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server's sighatie

Printed name and iitle

Server’y address

Additional information regarding attempled service, efc:
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3:18-cv-00850 Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al

JURY

U.S, District Court
Eastern District of Virginia -
Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered by Shumadine, Conrad on 12/11/2018 at 4:46 PM EST and filed
on 12/11/2018

Case Name: Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al
Case Number: 3:18-cv-00850
Filer: Andrew Knight

Benjamin Prusky
Sawbill Companies, Inc.
Document Number: 3

Docket Text:
Proposed Summons re [1] Complaint issued to Masonite Corporation by Andrew Knight,
Benjamin Prusky, Sawbill Companies, Inc.. (Shumadine, Conrad)

3:18-¢v-00850 Notice has been clectronically mailed to:

Conrad Moss Shumadine  cshumadine@wilsav.com, pyoder@wilsav.com, smccloud@wilsav.com
3:18-¢v-00850 Notice has been delivered by other means to:

The following document(s) are associated with this transaction:

Document description:Main Document

Original filename:n/a

Electronic document Stamp:

[STAMP dcecfStamp 1D=1091796605 [Date=12/11/2018] [FileNumber=8331063-
0] [4687a94085e11a023d6431707¢728976fce378cededdB8e9d89497de7bba29d3{2¢
a01de02238bb66¢37b03de71a2¢f358a22564473¢408a745d72d7de61a46b8}]

https://ecf.vaed.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/Dispatch.pl?650164798232842 12/11/2018



Case 3:18-cv-00850 Document4 Filed 12/11/18 Page 1 of 1 PagelD# 79

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
RICHMOND DIVISION

ANDREW KNIGHT, ET AL.

Ve, Civil/Criminal Action No. 3:18cv850
JELD-WEN, INC. and MASONITE CORP. o e

FINANCIAL INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1 of the Eastern District of Virginia and to enable Judges and
Magistrate Judges to evaluate possible disqualification or recusal, the undersigned counsel for

in the above captioned action, certifies that the {ollowing are parents, trusts, subsidiaries and/or
affiliates of said party that have issued shares or debt securities to the public or own more than
ten percent of the stock of the following:

Qr

Pursuant o Local Rule 7.1 of the Eastern District of Virginia and to enable Judges and
Magistrate Judges to evaluate possible disqualification or recusal, the undersigned counscl for

e @Wbill Companies, Inc.

in the above captioned action, certifies that the following are parties in the partnerships, general
or limited, or owners or members of non-publicly traded entitics such as 1.L.Cs or other closely
held entities:

Mark A.V. Petersen, sole shareholder, officer and director.

Or

Pursuant {o Local Rule 7.1 of the Bastern District of Virginia and to enable Judges and
Magistrate Judges to evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal, the undersigned counsel for

in the above captioned action, certifics that there are no parents, trusts, subsidiarics and/or
affiliates of said party that have issued shares or debt securities to the public.

December 10, 2018 /VJ
tff{/ fe
Date Sign rc of At ey or 15ant

Counsel for Sa il Cénmipanies, Inc.

Rev. 7434104
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3:18-cv-00850 Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al

JURY

U.S. District Court
Eastern District of Virginia -
Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered by Shumadine, Conrad on 12/11/2018 at 5:02 PM EST and filed
on 12/11/2018

Case Name: Knight et al v. Jeld-Wen, Inc. et al
Case Number: 3:18-cv-00850
Filer: Sawbill Companies, Inc.

Document Number: 4

Docket Text:
Financial Interest Disclosure Statement (Local Rule 7.1) by Sawhill Companies, Inc..
(Shumadine, Conrad)

3:18-cv-00850 Notice has been electronically mailed to:
Conrad Moss Shumadine cshumadine@wilsav.com, pyoder@wilsav.com, smecloud@wilsav.com

3:18-cv-00850 Notice has been delivered by other means to:
The following document(s) are associated with this transaction:

Document description:Main Document

Original filename:n/a

Electronic document Stamp:

[STAMP deecfStamp _1D=1091796605 [Date=12/11/2018] [FileNumber=8331152-
0] [3aeef65d0e513470{da62d60faca539294e250¢92e8a71 {e3bb0e0asSh629e73e88
05b4810dbe859¢22c9bd942bdad087acof12b05fc52f40alacablcal 1b4atb]]

https://ecf.vaed.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/Dispatch.pi?655923011851849 12/11/2018



